## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 83,556

GERALD D. MURRAY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court Duval County, Florida

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Fletcher N. Baldwin, Esquire Georgia Bar No.: 034600 University of Florida College of Law P.O. Box 117625 Gainesville, Florida 32611 Phone: (904) 392-2260 Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 109154
Richard W. Smith, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 013943
D. Gray Thomas, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 956041
Sheppard and White, P.A.
215 Washington Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Phone: (904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT



####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Gerald D. Murray, will be referred to herein by name, as "defendant" or as "appellant." Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State" or "appellee." References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by reference to the relevant volume and page set forth in brackets. Example, [Vol. I, 1].

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 15, 1990, the appellant/defendant, Gerald Murray, and his neighbor, James Fisher, picked up Steven Taylor and drove to the Corner Pocket on San Jose Boulevard in Jacksonville, Florida. [Vol. XXXIV, 1102-1105]. Afterwards, Mr. Fisher dropped off Mr. Murray and Mr. Taylor at the corner of Deeder and Herdon Streets, near Mr. Murray's home. [Vol. XXXIV, 1106-1108, 1110-1113].

On September 16, 1990, the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office was contacted after neighbors of Ms. Alice Vest had found her dead in her mobile home, which was uncharacteristically in disarray. [Vol. XXXV, 941-942, 946-947]. Jacksonville Sheriff's Office evidence technicians took photographs and collected physical evidence on september 16 and 18, 1990. [Vol. XXXV, 946-947]. At the scene of the alleged crime, pruning shears were found lying beneath cut telephone wires. [Vol. XXXV, 950-952, 978]. Ms. Vest was found lying on her bed with a wire or cord wrapped around her neck. [Vol. XXXV, 956-958]. She had slice wounds and puncture wounds about her upper body. [Vol. XXXV, 956-958]. Other evidence seized from Ms. Vest's bedroom included a metal bar, a broken bottle, a paring knife, a brass candelabra, and a pair of scissors. [Vol. XXXV, 954-958, 969, 998-999]. Two hairs were collected from the left leg and chest of Ms. Vest and sealed in an envelope. [Vol. XXXVI, 1017-1019].

Approximately five months later, on February 15, 1991, homicide detective T.C. O'Steen contacted Assistant State Attorney

Bernardo de la Rionda to obtain a search warrant regarding Mr. Murray. [Vol. XXX, 259-261]. Detective O'Steen's affidavit, in regard to Mr. Murray, stated that Mr. Murray with James Fisher picked up Steve Taylor at a house where a pendant and English gold coin were found buried in the backyard. [Vol. I, 119, 125]. The pendant and coin were alleged to have been missing from Ms. Vest's home. [Vol. I, 119, 125]. Also, Detective O'Steen stated in his affidavit that Mr. Murray and Steven Taylor left town a few days after Ms. Vest's death. [Vol. I, 119, 125]. Detective O'Steen requested approval to take blood and saliva samples of Mr. Murray. [Vol. I, 119, 126]. Circuit Judge Santora issued the search warrant permitting the taking of blood, saliva, and hair samples. [Vol. I, 119, 126].

Subsequently, on February 15, 1991, Mr. Murray, who was incarcerated at Montgomery Correctional Center on an unrelated offense, was transported to the Police Memorial Building where he was questioned by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office personnel. [Vol. XXX, 272-275]. Detective O'Steen stated he then requested Mr. Murray's consent for blood, saliva, and hair samples. [Vol. XXX, 272-275]. According to the detective, Mr. Murray acquiesced. [Vol. XXX, 272-275]. Mr. Murray was taken to the clinic of the Duval County Jail whereupon Mr. Murray learned that samples were to be taken. [Vol. XXX, 306-308]. Mr. Murray asked to see a search warrant which Detective O'Steen produced, at which point the samples were taken. [Vol. XXX, 306-308]. Blood, saliva and hair samples were all collected. [Vol. XXXVI, 1208-1209, 1210-1212].

Detective O'Steen later testified that he had received consent and a search warrant prior to collecting the samples. [Vol. XXXVI, 1212].

More than a year later, Mr. Murray was indicted on April 9, 1992, for murder in the first degree, burglary and sexual battery. [Vol. I, 1]. Mr. Murray's trial counsel were appointed on January 13, 1994. [Vol. I, 113]. Despite motions for continuance, [Vol. XXXII, 130; XXXIII, 430-446], trial commenced on February 28, 1994, less than two months after counsel was appointed. [Vol. XXXIII, 468]. A separate motion for continuance of the penalty phase also was denied. [Vol. LXIII, 2134-2136].

On January 28, 1994, Mr. Murray moved to suppress evidence of any test conducted from Mr. Murray's blood, saliva or hair based on a faulty search warrant. [Vol. I, 119]. Despite the fact that the supporting affidavit made no mention of Mr. Murray's hair or the desire to take hair samples, the issuing judge signed the search warrant directing that blood and saliva as well as hair be seized. [Vol. XXX, 266, 269]. This motion was denied. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1507]. Also, on February 7, 1994, Mr. Murray moved to suppress physical evidence on the basis that an identification card and a social security card were seized without a warrant and without probable cause. [Vol. I, 134]. The motion was denied. [Vol. II, 331; Vol. XXXV, 896].

Jury selection began on February 28, 1994. [Vol. XXXIII-XXXV]. During jury selection, Mr. Murray raised <u>Neil</u> objections because the State exercised its first three preemptory challenges

to excuse black males. [Vol. XXXV, 858]. The State interposed its reasons for its challenges and the trial court then overruled the objection, all before defense counsel could state further grounds for his objection. [Vol. XXXV, 858-859].

On March 2, 1994, Mr. Murray moved to exclude novel scientific evidence in the form of DNA testing on his hair samples. [Vol. III, 337]. The trial court denied this motion at trial on March 2, 1994. [Vol. XXXVII, 1330]. Mr. Murray also moved on March 2, 1994, to exclude the testimony of Joseph A. Dizinno, a hair and fiber examination expert, on the basis that his comparison of Mr. Murray's hairs to hairs found at the crime scene was irrelevant as it failed to determine any degree of probability or certainty. [Vol. II, 354]. The trial court likewise denied this motion. [Vol. XXXVII, 1331].

At trial, during the State's presentation of its case, Dr. Bonafacio Floro testified as an expert that Ms. Vest's death was a homicide caused by ligature strangulation and multiple stab wounds. [Vol. XXXVI, 1053-1054, 1088-1089]. Dr. Floro testified that Ms. Vest had bruising and abrasions on her breast and stab wounds on her chest, abdomen, back and thigh. [Vol. XXXVI, 1071-1073]. Dr. Floro stated that, in his opinion, the stab wounds were inflicted before the strangulation. [Vol. XXXVI, 1077]. Ms. Vest had a lacerated and broken jaw consistent with being hit with a broken bottle neck. [Vol. XXXVI, 1079-1080]. Dr. Floro, upon being given a hypothetical by the State, also stated that the evidence was consistent with Ms. Vest having been strangled with three objects;

a web belt, a leather belt and a cord. [Vol. XXXVI, 1088-1089]. Mr. Murray's defense counsel objected to the hypothetical but was overruled. [Vol. XXXVI, 1088]. Upon cross-examination, Dr. Floro was unsure as to how many individuals participated in the strangling. [Vol. XXXVI, 1090]. Dr. Floro also testified that Ms. Vest suffered no defensive wounds, and that the medical evidence was consistent with her having been unconscious from near the outset of the attack on her. [Vol. XXXVI, 1090-1092].

John Wilson, a crime laboratory analyst with FDLE, testified that no identifiable fingerprints were found of Mr. Murray on any of the evidence seized. [Vol. XXXV, 1185-1187].

The State also called Diane Hanson, a forensic serologist with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. [Vol. XXXVII, 1231]. She stated that seminal stains found on the victim's blouse and bed comforter were consistent with Steven Taylor but not with Mr. Murray. [Vol. XXXVII, 1252-1254]. Indeed, Mr. Murray was eliminated as a donor of all blood and semen samplings found by Ms. Hanson. [Vol. XXXVII, 1260].

Joseph Dizinno, a hair and fiber expert for the FBI, testified, over the objection of Mr. Murray's defense counsel, that caucasian pubic hair found on the left leg and chest of the victim had the same microscopic characteristics as the pubic hair of Mr. Murray. [Vol. XXXVII, 1366-1368]. Defense counsel had objected on the basis that Mr. Dizinno had found more than two hairs in the evidence slide although the evidence technician who had seized the hairs had only obtained two. [Vol. XXXVII, 1359-1363]. The trial

court overruled the evidence tampering objection. [Vol. XXXVII, 13631. Upon cross-examination, Mr. Dizinno stated that the comparison hair of did not reveal an absolute positive identification. [Vol. XXXVII, 1377-1378]. Mr. Dizinno could not discount the possibility that the hair from the crime scene could have come from someone other than Mr. Murray. [Vol. XXXVII, 1383-1385].

Next, the State called Daniel Nippes, Chief Criminologist at the Regional Criminal Laboratory of the FBI. [Vol. XXXVII, 1387-1388]. Mr. Nippes stated, after comparing hairs found at the scene and the hair samples taken from Mr. Murray, that one of Mr. Murray's hairs had the same DNA type as the hair found at the scene. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1404-1405]. According to Mr. Nippes, 8.2 percent of the population has that same DNA genotype as the crime sample. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1405-1406].

At trial, again over the objection of defense counsel, Ricky Proctor, an inmate in the Duval County Jail, testified that Mr. Murray, while in custody, referred to Steven Taylor as his partner in a murder. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1520-1521]. Mr. Proctor also stated that Mr. Murray had revealed to him that he and Mr. Taylor had broken into a woman's home, beat her up, tied her up, had sexual intercourse with her, and then killed her. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1524-1525, 1559-1561]. For his "truthful" testimony, Mr. Proctor was to get a 4-year cap instead of possibly ten years as a habitual offender. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1542-1546]. Mr. Proctor had told Michael Brown, an inmate at Union Correctional Institution, that he would

do anything to get his sentence reduced and expressed concern regarding his habitual offender status. [Vol. XXXIX, 1745-1748]. Likewise, Mr. Charles Torak, a convicted felon, testified that Mr. Murray had stated while in the Duval County Jail that he was present when his best friend stabbed a woman whose house they had burglarized. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1573, 1575]. Mr. Torak, at that time, was a confidential informant for the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office who between 1988 and 1992 was paid \$15,000.00. [Vol. XXXVIII, 1576-1579].

Anthony Smith, an inmate in the Duval County Jail who escaped with Mr. Murray on November 22, 1992, testified for the State that Mr. Murray had stated that he and a friend went to rob a house, had sexual intercourse with the female occupant, stabbed and strangled the woman, and then gathered some valuables and left. [Vol. XXXIX, 1654, 1657]. Mr. Smith pled guilty to first degree murder and was sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimum-mandatory of 25 years. [Vol. XXXIX, 1559-1560].

Following the State's presentation of its case, Mr. Murray through defense counsel, moved for a judgment of acquittal. [Vol. XXXIX, 1736]. The motion was denied and the defense began its case. [Vol. XXXIX, 1736-1739].

The defense called Michael Brown, an inmate at Union Correctional Institution, to testify as an explanation of why Mr. Murray escaped from the Duval County Jail. [Vol. XXXIX, 1745, 1749-1753]. The trial court sustained the State's objection to Mr. Brown's testimony on the grounds that it was hearsay without Mr.

Murray testifying himself. [Vol. XXXIX, 1749-1753]. Defense counsel, out of the jury's presence, proffered Mr. Brown's testimony as well as the testimony of Thomas Morton Williams, Paul Pinkham and William L. Drew. [Vol. XXXIX, 1753, 1790, 1795; Vol. LX, 1897]. William Drew and Thomas Williams, both previous cellmates of Mr. Murray, never heard Mr. Murray say anything directly about his case. [Vol. LX, 1809-1811; 1839-1841].

Dr. David Goldman, a lab chief at the National Institute of Health in Bethesda, Maryland, stated that whenever DNA samples are taken, any individual who could have deposited a sample onto the victim should have been tested. [Vol. LX, 1888-1889].

On March 4, 1994, after resting, defense counsel again moved for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. [Vol. LX, 1916]. The State and defense counsel made their closing arguments regarding the guilt phase. [Vol. LX, 1932-2000; Vol. LXI, 2004-2059]. During the State's closing arguments, the prosecution directed the jury that it had the right to be angered by photographs depicting a senseless, brutal murder. [Vol. LXI, 2058-2059]. The trial judge sustained defense counsel's objection, gave a curative instruction , but denied defense counsel's motion for mistrial. [Vol. LXI, 2059]. The trial judge instructed the jury. [Vol. II, 357; Vol. LXI, 2062-2095]. On March 8, 1994, the jury found Mr. Murray guilty of murder in the first degree, burglary, and sexual battery. [Vol. LXI, 2102].

On March 17, 1994, Mr. Murray filed a motion for new trial. [Vol. III, 405]. That motion was denied. [Vol. LXIV, 2385-2387].

On March 24, 1994, the penalty phase of this case began. [Vol. LXIII-LXV].

Murray filed objections to the standard "heinous, Mr. atrocious and cruel" jury instruction and proposed alternative instructions regarding that issue. [Vol. III, 414, 419]. He also challenged the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty. [Vol. I, 113, 209, 216]. He further challenged the legality of application of a newly amended statutory provision to his case, [Vol. I, 230], and moved to prohibit comments by the State misleading the jury as to its advisory role in the penalty phase. [Vol. I, 139]. These motions and objections were denied. [Vol. XXX, 211-242]. The State presented evidence and argument, over Mr. Murray's objections, of his prior felony record and argued other aggravating factors. [Vol. LXIII, 2137-2167; LXIV, 2294-2325]. Mr. Murray presented evidence in mitigation. [Vol. LXIV, 2170-2283]. The jury voted 11-1 to recommend a sentence of death. [Vol. LXIV, 2366]. On April 14, 1994, Mr. Murray moved for a new penalty phase, and the motion was denied. [Vol. III, 444]. On April 15, 1994, the trial court sentenced Mr. Murray to death for murder in the first degree, and to two consecutive sentences of life imprisonment for burglary of a dwelling with assault and sexual battery with the use of physical force likely to cause serious personal injury. [Vol. LXI, 2408-2416]. Mr. Murray timely filed his notice of appeal on April 15, 1994. [Vol. III, 501]. Undersigned appellate counsel was appointed on May 11, 1995. This appeal follows.

## I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTIONS TO THE STATE'S DISCRIMINATORY PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES OF THREE PROSPECTIVE JURORS.

## II.

THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS ISSUED IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ART. I, SEC. 12 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AS WELL AS <u>UNITED STATES V. LEON'S EXCEPTIONS TO THE GOOD FAITH RULE, IN THAT THE AFFIDAVIT DID NOT INCLUDE A MAJOR INGREDIENT NOR DID IT FOCUS UPON THE REAL AND INTENDED MATTER SUBJECT TO SEARCH AND SEIZURE: HAIR.</u>

## III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S. MOTION IN LIMINE TO EXCLUDE NOVEL SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE.

## IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING.

v.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTIONS FOR CONTINUANCE OF THE TRIAL AND THE PENALTY PHASE.

THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE REGARDING MR. MURRAY'S COLLATERAL CRIMES TO SHOW BAD CHARACTER OR PROPENSITY TO COMMIT BAD ACTS.

## VII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS TO OTHERS AS TO HIS STATE OF MIND REGARDING HIS ESCAPE.

## VIII.

THE STATE'S COMMENT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR INTENTIONALLY EVOKED AN EMOTIONAL RESPONSE FORM JURORS.

## IX.

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT GERALD MURRAY OF THE OFFENSES CHARGED.

## X.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

#### XI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING MR. MURRAY'S OBJECTIONS TO THE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE INSTRUCTION AND DENYING HIS ADDITIONAL PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING THAT AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

## XII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REJECTING STATUTORY AND NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES. XIII.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AND MAKING FINDINGS OF TWO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES THAT MERGE.

## XIV.

THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATING FACTOR DOES NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

#### XV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING ALL BUT UNOPPOSED OBJECTIONS OF MR. MURRAY'S PRIOR VIOLENT FELONIES.

## XVI.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO ARGUE IMPROPERLY IN THE PENALTY PHASE.

## XVII.

FLORIDA'S STATUTORY PROVISION ALLOWING PRESENTATION OF VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE IN A CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDING IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE.

#### XVIII.

THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING MULTIPLE PUNISHMENTS FOR SINGLE CONVICTIONS.

## XIX.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY FAILED TO ADVISE THE JURY OF THE GRAVITY OF ITS SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION.

#### XX.

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A DEATH SENTENCE.

## XXI.

FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE ELECTROCUTION CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

## XXII.

THE DEATH PENALTY IS NOT PROPORTIONALLY WARRANTED IN THIS CASE.

#### XXIII.

THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING GERALD MURRAY TO TWO CONSECUTIVE LIFE SENTENCES WHEN HIS SENTENCE ON ONE COUNT HAD BEEN ENHANCED UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The trial judge permitted, over the defendant's objections, the State to employ peremptory challenges to choose three jurors based on both race and gender and failed to apply the required legal analysis to that issue which was raised by the accused. The trial judge erred in finding that the State advanced race-neutral reasons for exercising its peremptory challenges in not making any determination of whether the State exercised its peremptory challenges to exclude prospective jurors on the basis of gender.

2. The search warrant issued for the taking of hair samples of the defendant was not based on probable cause as the supporting affidavit did not even mention the need for the hair. The trial judge's denial of the defendant's motion to suppress evidence

seized as a result of the invalid search warrant constituted reversible error.

3. The trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion in limine to exclude DNA evidence as it is novel scientific evidence not generally accepted by the relevant scientific community.

4. The trial court committed reversible error when it admitted hair collected at the crime scene and results of testing of such hair despite conflicting testimony which demonstrated probable tampering or altering of the hair.

5. The trial court abused its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion for a continuance based on the short time period counsel had for trial preparation, the resulting prejudice to the defendant's case, and the nature and complexity of the case.

6. The trial court erred in permitting the State, over defense objection, to introduce evidence and elicit testimony regarding the defendant's collateral crimes or bad acts solely for the reason to establish the defendant's propensity of committing such acts.

7. It was error for the trial court not to permit defense counsel to introduce into evidence the testimony of several individuals regarding the defendant's statements regarding his then existing state of mind at the time of his escape, which is an exception to the hearsay rule, especially after the State was permitted to introduce evidence regarding the defendant's escape.

8. The State's comment to the jury that it had a right to be angered by photographs of the victim was reversible error as it was made to intentionally invoke an emotional response from the jury.

9. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case of the offenses charged as the only evidence presented connecting the defendant to the crime scene should have been suppressed or was incredible.

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