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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - By failing to challenge the jury before it was sworn, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Regardless, the State's reasons for striking the jurors were both race- and gender-neutral.

Issue II - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Regardless, Appellant consented to the search and seizure. Even if his consent was not valid, the warrant validly authorized the seizure of Appellant's pubic hair.

Issue III - PCR DNA analysis is generally accepted as reliable within the scientific community.

Issue IV - The State properly established the chain of custody relating to the pubic hair recovered from the victim's body. Even if there was sufficient evidence of probable tampering, the introduction of Special Agent Dizinno's testimony relating to this hair was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue V - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defense counsels' motions for continuance made at the beginning of both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial.

Issue VI - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Regardless, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Appellant's pretrial escape, theft of automobiles, and possession of false identification. Even if it were error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VII - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding on hearsay grounds the testimony of four defense witness who would have testified to statements made by appellant regarding his intent to escape. Even if it were error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VIII - The State's comment during its guilt-phase closing argument was sufficiently cured by the trial court's curative instruction and did not vitiate the entire trial.

Issue IX - The evidence was sufficient to support Appellant's convictions for first-degree murder, burglary of a dwelling with an assault, and sexual battery.

Issue X - The record supports the trial court's finding of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating

factor given that victim was beaten, bludgeoned, raped, stabbed, and strangled in her own home. Even were it not supported by the record, Appellant's sentence would not have been different absent this factor.

Issue XI - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Appellant's special requested instruction on the HAC aggravating factor. The newly amended instruction, which this Court has previously affirmed, was given in this case.

Issue XII - The record supports the trial court's rejection of Appellant's statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. The trial court considered all of Appellant's mitigation but found that it was not supported by the evidence and/or not mitigating in nature.

Issue XIII - Appellant did not request a doubling instruction. Regardless, none was needed where the felony murder aggravator was based alternatively on sexual battery.

Issue XIV - The record supports the trial court's finding that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain since Appellant admitted to several persons that he and Taylor stole jewelry from the victim. Even were it found in error, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different.

Issue XV - Appellant had a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay admitted during the penalty phase proceeding. Even if he didn't, any error was harmless.

Issue XVI - All of the State's complained-of comments in closing argument were fair comments on the evidence. Even were they not, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVII - Appellant's <u>ex post facto</u> challenges to the victim-impact statute have previously been rejected. Appellant's other challenges were not made in the trial court, and thus were not preserved for review. Regardless, they have been rejected previously as well.

Issue XVIII - The trial court's use of Appellant's contemporaneous convictions for burglary and sexual batter to support the felony murder aggravator did not constitute a double jeopardy violation.

Issue XIX - Appellant did not raise a <u>Caldwell</u> challenge to the instructions. Thus, he failed to preserve this issue for review. Regardless, it has been rejected previously.

Issue XX - This issue appears duplicative of other issues, especially Issue XXII. The State will rely on its arguments made therein.

Issue XXII - Florida's death penalty statute is not unconstitutional because electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment.

Issue XXIII - Appellant's sentence is proportionate to other cases under similar facts.

Issue XXIV - Appellant's sentence to life imprisonment as a habitual felony offender for the burglary was improperly imposed consecutively to the murder.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTIONS TO THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES OF THREE PROSPECTIVE JURORS (Restated).

During jury selection, the State informed the panel that the law does not set a specific amount of time necessary for one to premeditate a murder. (T 604-05). When asked if anyone believed that a specific amount of time should be required, John Bates indicated that he believed so even though the law does not require it. (T 605-06). Even after the trial court read the premeditation instruction to the jury, Mr. Bates persisted in his opinion that a specific time should be required. (T 607). When questioned by defense counsel, however, Mr. Bates indicated that he would follow the court's instruction on premeditation. (T 634-35).

At the end of the questioning, the State moved to have Mr. Bates stricken for cause because of his comments relating to premeditation. Because he had indicated that he would follow the instruction, the trial court denied the motion. (T 849-50). Later, the State struck three potential jurors peremptorily: Mr. Bates, Robert Smith, and Lewis Parker. (T 857-58). At that point the following colloquy occurred:

MR. ARIAS: Your Honor, let it be shown that the State's first three strikes are all black males.

MR. DE LA RIONDA: Yes, I'll be glad to -- I don't know if the Court [sic] rises to that level but I'll be glad to.

Mr. Bates is being stricken because of what he specifically said. In fact, I think the Court should have allowed my request to strike him for cause. He said he specifically would require, when it comes to premeditation, a specific amount of time. He said he could not agree with the fact of somebody who just after thinking about it for a few seconds premeditates something.

As to Mr. Parker and Mr. Smith, they all have records, as you all are aware of, that is Mr. Arias and Mr. Weinbaum, in that we turned over their records to him. Mr. Parker has been convicted or actually pled to battery in 1992, no contest plea and got a withhold, and Mr. Smith had a trespass, adjudicated guilty in 1992.

THE COURT: All right. It does not appear to me that those are racially motivated challenges. The State has explained them without the Court requiring it, but will require for the Neil purposes and will deny the challenge.

(T 858-59). No other objections or comments were made.

In this appeal, Appellant first complains that the trial court applied an improper legal standard in assessing the State's reasons for striking the three jurors. According to Appellant, the trial court's finding that the State's challenges were not "racially motivated" was not sufficient. Rather, Appellant claims that the trial court must specifically find that the proffered reasons are reasonable, race-neutral, and nonpretextual. **Brief of Appellant** at 19-25. Second, Appellant complains that the State's reasons were not reasonable, race-neutral, and nonpretextual. Id. at 22-25. Third, Appellant complains that the trial court made no inquiry or findings regarding the issue of gender. Id. at 25-28.

Initially, the State submits that Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for review. Appellant accepted the final jury of twelve without any objections or reservation of his prior objection. The following day, Appellant made no objection prior to the jury being sworn. In <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1993), this Court agreed with the district court that

counsel's action in accepting the jury led to a reasonable assumption that he had abandoned, for whatever reason, his earlier objection. It is reasonable to conclude that events occurring subsequent to his objection caused him to be satisfied with the jury about to be sworn. We therefore approve the district court to the extent that the court held that Joiner waived his <u>Neil</u> objection when he accepted the jury.² Had Joiner renewed his objection or accepted the jury subject to his earlier <u>Neil</u> objection, we would rule otherwise. Such action would have apprised the trial judge that Joiner still believed reversible error had occurred. At that point the trial judge could have exercised discretion to either recall the challenged juror for service on the panel, strike the entire panel and begin anew, or stand by the earlier ruling.

² Were we to hold otherwise, Joiner could proceed to trial before a jury he unqualifiedly accepted, knowing that in the event of an unfavorable verdict, he would hold a trump card entitling him to a new trial.

Id. at 176. See also Wilkins v. State, 659 So. 2d 1273, 1274-75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Since Appellant did not renew his objections to the State's peremptory challenge of these three jurors prior to the jury being sworn, he has failed to preserve this issue for review.

Even had Appellant preserved his objections, they are wholly without merit. As for Appellant's first claim, the State submits that the trial court is not required to utter any magic words. Its ruling in this case clearly indicates that it knew the legal standard to apply and that it found the State's reasons race-neutral, i.e., not motivated by racial bias. *A fortiori* the trial court found the State's reasons reasonable and nonpretextual. It should not have to parrot these exact words in order for its findings to withstand appellate scrutiny. <u>See Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 784, 788 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis added) ("[A] trial court is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are <u>racially motivated</u>.").

As for the propriety of the trial court's finding that the State's reasons were race-neutral, this Court has previously stated that, "[i]n Florida, there is a presumption that peremptories will be exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner." <u>State v. Johans</u>, 613 So. 2d 1319, 1321 & 1322 (Fla. 1993). Once the objecting party makes a sufficient objection, it is incumbent upon the trial court to hold a <u>Neil</u> inquiry. <u>Id.</u> at 1322. At that point, the challenged party must proffer "valid nonracial reasons why the individual minority jurors were struck." <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 203, 205 (Fla. 1990). "[T]he trial judge necessarily is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially intended. Only one who is present at the trial can discern the nuances of the spoken word and the demeanor of those involved." <u>Id.</u> at 206. In reviewing such determinations on appeal, reviewing courts "must necessarily rely on the inherent fairness and color blindness of our trial judges who are on the scene and who themselves get a 'feel' for what is going on in the jury selection process." <u>Id.</u> "Substituting an

appellate court's judgment for that of the trial judge on the basis of a cold record is not a solution because it would provide an automatic appeal in every case where a prospective minority juror was challenged." <u>Files v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 1301, 1304 (Fla. 1992).

Although Mr. Bates indicated during defense counsel's questioning that he would follow the law regarding premeditation, he emphatically indicated during the State's questioning that he believed the law should set a specific time for premeditation. (T 605-07, 634-35). "The State does not have to establish grounds sufficient to have the juror excused for cause." <u>Happ v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 991, 996 (Fla. 1992). The fact that Mr. Bates may require more than the law requires is a valid race-neutral reason to strike him. <u>See Alexander v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 1151, 1152 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (finding state's challenge facially race-neutral given juror's responses during voir dire that he "might not be able to follow a specific jury instruction"); <u>Green v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 647, 651-52 (Fla. 1991) (finding state's challenge facially race-neutral given juror's dissatisfaction with death penalty even though juror could follow the law).

As for Robert Smith and Lewis Parker, the State indicated that Mr. Smith had been adjudicated guilty for trespass in 1992, and Mr. Parker had pled no contest to battery in 1992. (T 858-59). The fact that potential jurors have criminal records has previously been held to be a race-neutral reason. <u>Files</u>, 613 So. 2d at 1302; <u>Wilkins</u>, 659 So. 2d at 1274; <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1079, 1082 (Fla. 1994); <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 687, 690-91 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>approved on other grounds</u>, 572 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 1991); <u>Knight v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 327, 328 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 574 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1990).

Appellant complains, however, that the reason appears to be pretextual in his case because juror Stewart Caldwell admitted during questioning that he had a prior arrest for theft.² **Brief of Appellant** at

² Appellant also points to juror Sandlin who admitted that he was arrested for carrying a concealed weapon upon his return from Desert Storm but the charges were dropped. Mr. Sandlin was later excused for cause because of his inability to recommend the death penalty under any circumstances. Given that cause challenges were exercised before any peremptory challenges, Mr. Sandlin can hardly be used to support a claim that the State's reasons for excusing Mr. Smith and Mr. Lewis were pretextual.

24. Because Appellant never challenged the State's reasons as pretextual, the State was not given an opportunity to respond and the trial court was not able to address the issue. As a result, Appellant failed to preserve this argument for appeal. <u>Wilkins</u>, 659 So. 2d at 1274. Nevertheless, the record would support a finding that the reasons were not pretextual. The distinction lies in the fact that, while juror Caldwell was arrested, jurors Smith and Parker were convicted. Moreover, when the State asked the panel whether anyone had been arrested, only jurors Caldwell and Sandlin responded. Mr. Lewis and Mr. Parker did not respond. Only because the State had independently investigated the arrest records of the potential jurors was it aware that jurors Smith and Parker had been convicted of a crime. Thus, the fact that they withheld this information provides additional validity for the State's reasons. <u>See Files v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 352, 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>approved as modified</u>, 613 So. 2d 1301 (Fla. 1992).

As for Appellant's claim that the trial court made no findings relating to his gender-based objection, the State submits that Appellant failed to preserve this specific objection as well. Although Appellant objected that "the State's first three strikes are all black <u>males</u>" (T 858) (emphasis added), Appellant did not pursue his objection on the gender basis. The State gave its reasons and the trial court found that they were not racially motivated. At that point, Appellant should have pressed his gender-based objection and let the trial court know that his objection was two-fold, i.e., race-based and gender-based. Because he did not, he failed to preserve this objection for review. <u>See Wilkins</u>, 659 So. 2d 1274 (failure to raise pretextual claim waives objection for appeal).

Regardless, for the reasons discussed above, the State's bases for striking these jurors are as equally gender-neutral as they are race-neutral. Mr. Bates expressed his disagreement with the law on premeditation, and Mr. Smith and Mr. Parker had been convicted of crimes which they failed to disclose to the court upon questioning. Thus, had Appellant pursued his gender-based objection, the trial court would have been within its discretion in finding the State's reasons gender-neutral as well.

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